### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

# FILED SID J. WHITE

SEP 27 1995

KEYDRICK JORDAN,	)		CLERK, SUPREME COURT  By  Chilef Deputy Clark
Appellant,	)		
vs.	) )	CASE NUMBER	84,252
STATE OF FLORIDA,	)		
Appellee.	) )		
-	)		

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR ORANGE COUNTY, FLORIDA

## INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 0294632
CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS
112 Orange Avenue, Suite A
Daytona Beach, Florida 32114
(904) 252-3367

COUNSEL FOR APPELLANT

#

## PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In referring to the record on appeal, the following symbols will be used:

- (T) -- the 14 volumes which include the transcript of the trial proceedings consisting of the guilt phase held on July 19-27, 1993, and the penalty phase held September 21-28, 1993, totaling 2,808 pages.
- (R) -- the 21 volumes which include motion hearings, pleadings, and sentencing hearings totaling 1,989 pages.
- (SR) -- the 3 volume supplemental record filed in September, 1995, consisting of the transcripts of two hearings, the pleadings filed in <u>State v. Jordan</u>, 630 So.2d 1171 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993), and three depositions, totaling 177 pages.

The Appellant, Keydrick Jordan, will be referred to as the Appellant, the defendant, or by his proper name. The government will be referred to as the State or the prosecutor.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 17, 1992, the spring term grand jury of the Ninth Judicial Circuit, Orange County, Florida, returned a two-count indictment charging Keydrick Deon Jordan with the first-degree murder and attempted armed robbery of Ann Mintner. (R901-2)

On September 3, 1992, Appellant filed notice of intent to participate in guilt phase discovery. (R918)

Appellant filed numerous motions attacking the constitutionality of Section 921.141, Florida Statutes. One motion attacked the "pecuniary gain" aggravating circumstance and the standard jury instruction thereon. (R951-58) Another attacked the constitutionality of the aggravating factor and instruction relating to prior violent felony convictions. (R959-66)

Appellant also filed a variety of attacks on victim impact evidence and also attempted to limit any such evidence. (R978-82) [ex post facto]; (R983-87) [limit victim impact to court only]; (R988-1006) [constitutional attack on victim impact evidence and argument]; (R1007-1011) [limit evidence]; and (R1012-30) [exclude evidence or argument designed to create sympathy for deceased].

Appellant requested a list of aggravating circumstances and moved to dismiss the indictment due to lack of notice in this regard. (R1031-40) Appellant also challenged the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> § 921.141(5)(f), Fla. Stat. (1991).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> § 921.141(5)(b), Fla. Stat. (1991).

constitutionality of Section 921.141(5)(a), Florida Statutes

(1991) [the capital felony was committed by a person under sentence or on community control]. (R1057-63) He also challenged the constitutionality of the circumstance and standard instruction dealing with felony murder.<sup>3</sup> (R1077-84)

On October 30, 1992, Appellant filed a motion to preclude a first-degree felony murder theory of prosecution. (R1073-76) Appellant also attacked the constitutionality of Florida law allowing a bare majority of jurors the ability to recommend the death sentence. (R1064-66) Jordan also attacked the improper burdens of proof required for consideration of certain mitigating circumstances. (R1103-10) Appellant also challenged the statute based on its failure to provide adequate guidance for the jury in finding both aggravating and mitigating circumstances. (R1139-51) Jordan also challenged the statute based on inadequate appellate review. (R1011-38)

Appellant sought an evidentiary hearing in order to establish grounds to preclude imposition of the death sentence due to racial discrimination. (R1205-17) Jordan also sought to disqualify the prosecutor. (R1218-42)

Following a trial, the jury returned with verdicts of guilty as charged of first-degree murder and attempted armed robbery with a firearm. (R1773-75)

Prior to the penalty phase, the trial court allowed defense counsel to engage in limited discovery in Appellant's quest to

<sup>§ 921.141(5)(</sup>d), Fla. Stat. (1991).

expose racial bias on the part of the State in seeking the death penalty in this case. (R1778-87,1790-92,1806-20,1829-31)

A penalty phase commenced on September 21, 1993. (R1836-41) Following deliberations, the jury returned with a recommendation (8 to 4) that the trial court impose the death penalty. (R1869) On October 7, 1993, Appellant filed a motion for new penalty phase. (R1874-76)

Appellant renewed his attempts to compel discovery regarding the State's racist motives. The State maintained their resistance. (R1879-88,1891-96) Ultimately, the State successfully sought a writ of mandamus precluding any further discovery on the race issue. (SR131-77; R1897-1901); State v. Jordan, 630 So.2d 1171 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993).

On May 9, 1994, the trial court conducted a sentencing hearing where further evidence was presented. (R1907-8) On July 22, 1994, the court adjudicated and sentenced Keydrick Jordan to die in Florida's electric chair. (R1917-33) On July 27, 1994, the trial court rendered a corrected order sentencing Jordan to die. (R1941-50) The court sentenced Jordan to seven years imprisonment for the attempted armed robbery. (R1951) The trial court ultimately denied Appellant's August 12, 1994, motion for reconsideration of sentence and objection to sentencing order. (R1954-61) Jordan filed a notice of appeal on August 19, 1994. (R1962) This Court has jurisdiction. Art. V, § 3(b)(1), Fla. Const.

#### STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

#### GUILT PHASE

On August 8, 1992, Ann Mintner was taking her morning stroll around Lake Davis in downtown Orlando. As was her usual practice, Mintner walked with Mary Rosensweig. (T1169-73) they walked, Mintner realized that she had her change purse with She decided to put it in her car for safekeeping. Mintner walked to her car as Rosensweig kept walking. (T1173-74) As she glanced back at Mintner, Rosensweig saw a young black male standing next to Mintner by the car. She heard the man instruct Mintner to, "Give me your key." (T1174-75) Mintner broke and ran toward Rosensweig. Rosensweig heard shots ring out as Mintner began to run. (T1174-77) Stunned, Rosensweig focused on Mintner as she ran towards Rosensweig while the shooting continued. When Mintner fell in front of her, Rosensweig noticed the assailant standing right next to them as he shot Mintner one final time. (T1177) Rosensweig then noticed the silver gun. (T1177) The attacker then turned and ran. (T1177-78) resident of the neighborhood saw a young black male flee the scene shortly after the shooting. (T1197-1202) Neither Rosensweig, the neighbor, nor a motorist who saw a suspicious black male on a nearby street could identify Keydrick Jordan as the shooter.

Ann Mintner died from massive hemorrhage in the chest and

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The assailant never appeared to acknowledge Rosensweig's presence. (T1177-78)

abdominal cavities, caused by six gunshot wounds. (T1276-93)
The medical examiner believed that the shots were fired from a distance of at least two to three feet. (T1293-97)

Police recovered a bicycle at the crime scene. (T1215-30, 1247-48) Crime scene technicians lifted thirty-five latent fingerprints from the bicycle. (T1242-43,1272-75) Some of the prints matched Keydrick Jordan while others matched Sam Tory's. (T1300-7)

Reydrick Jordan was staying with his girlfriend Michelle
Daniels on Friday, August 7, the day before the murder. (T143337) Michelle went to bed early that evening with Jordan beside
her. (T1435-37) Apparently, after Michelle fell asleep,
Keydrick went over to another woman's (Vicky Myers) apartment.
(T1307-11) Several days before the shooting, Vicky Myers had
introduced Keydrick to her uncle, Sam Tory. Earlier in the week,
Jordan and Tory had attempted to repair a bicycle. (T1312)
Jordan and Tory arrived at Myers' apartment together that
evening. (T1309-11,1331) Jordan and Myers stayed up all night
talking. Tory eventually went to sleep in Myers' daughter's
room. (T1309-11,1326-27) Jordan left the apartment between 6:00
and 6:30 Saturday morning. He told Myers that he was going to,

<sup>5</sup> The firearms expert agreed with this conclusion. (T1488-91)

That bike was found at the crime scene.

Myers denied that they drank any alcohol or imbibed in any narcotics. (T1309-11,1329)

"rob someone." (T1311-13) Myers testified that Jordan did not leave on a bike, nor did he have a gun that morning. (T1312-13)

At the time of his trial testimony, Sam Tory was incarcerated in the Orange County Jail still facing a violation of probation. (T1335-36,1347) Tory corroborated his niece's testimony, but admitted that he and Jordan shared a dozen beers that night. (T1340-41,1353) Tory also admitted that he and Vicky drink Cisco. (T1353-54) When Tory saw Jordan later that weekend, Jordan confessed that he'd "popped someone. (T1341-44) Tory did not take Jordan seriously until he saw a news report of the murder. (T1344-45) When he saw the bicycle on television, he knew that his fingerprints would turn up on the bike. (T1345) For that reason, and the \$1,000.00 reward. (T1345-46) Tory collected the \$1,000.00 reward. (T1346) He denied seeking any assistance from the prosecutor on

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> Both Tory and his niece denied that Tory went with Jordan that morning.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Tory's substantive charge for battery was dismissed three days before he testified against Jordan. (T1348) He had been sitting in jail for three months. Tory hoped to be released the following month, and admitted that his lawyer was working toward that goal. (T1348-49)

<sup>10</sup> Cisco is a high alcohol, cheap wine.

<sup>11</sup> Slang for "shoot someone." There was much confusion concerning Jordan's exact words to Tory. (T1368-76) Tory's testimony was inherently conflicting. However, viewed in a light most favorable to the State, Tory claimed that Jordan admitted shooting someone.

A substantial sum of money to Tory, who worked on lawn maintenance when he was not incarcerated. (T1350-51)

his pending battery charge. (T1346) Tory also denied any participation in the robbery, even denying his presence at the scene. (T1376)

On August 11, 1992, Keydrick Jordan voluntarily accompanied two officers to the Criminal Investigation Division of the Orlando Police Department. (T1348-49) Jordan initially denied involvement or knowledge regarding Mintner's shooting. Later that night, Jordan admitted that he went to Lake Davis that morning with Sam Tory, attempted to rob Mintner, and accidently shot her. (T1224-42; State's Exhibit No. 17; Defense Exhibit Nos. 1 and 2) Jordan told police where they could find the gun. Police seized a handgun from Michelle Daniels' apartment while detectives continued to interview Jordan. (T1434-41) Ballistic tests revealed that the five fired projectiles found at the scene of the murder had been fired by the seized gun.

#### PENALTY PHASE

#### Aggravation

In 1987, when Keydrick Jordan was fourteen, he entered an apartment where he molested a six-year-old girl. Jordan admitted to the investigating officer that he used his finger to penetrate the girl's vagina. A medical examiner found no evidence of penetration. The child showed no signs of injury. Jordan subsequently pleaded guilty to lewd assault. (T1673-80)

In late 1991, Jordan robbed Ronnie Goodman of his car.

The handgun was a semi-automatic requiring a simple pull of the trigger to fire. The trigger pull was of average weight. (T1484-85)

During the encounter, an unarmed Jordan knocked Goodman's glasses from his face. Police returned Goodman's car within sixteen hours of its theft. (T1684-1702)

The State also relied on Jordan's plea of guilty to the first-degree murder of Thelma Reed. (T1702-15; State's Exhibit #3) Although the State dropped charges of sexual battery and arson in exchange for Jordan's plea to the murder, the jury heard testimony from the medical examiner concerning the sexual battery of Thelma Reed. Reed suffered a significant amount of genital trauma. (T1706-10) Reed died as a result of strangulation. (T1709-12) Reed's strangulation was not "classic", in that pressure was only applied to the front of her neck. (T1711-12) The strangulation was consistent with a control mechanism to keep a sexual battery victim in place during commission of the act. (T1712) The medical examiner conceded that Reed possibly died during a rape without any intent to kill. (T1712)

In an unsuccessful attempt to convince the judge and the jury that Mintner's murder was especially heinous, atrocious and cruel, Samuel Strang, a gerontologist, testified that Mintner, an elderly woman who had previously been victimized by street crime, was probably in "abject terror" when Jordan accosted her.

(T1812-17) Carol Brown, a therapist, testified that Keydrick Jordan most likely enjoyed the suffering that he inflicted on his victims. Brown called Keydrick Jordan a sociopath without conscience who experienced euphoria from his aggressive behavior.

(T1792) Brown expressed her opinion without any personal

examination of Keydrick Jordan. Brown read about Jordan's upbringing and of his crimes. Brown also read much "literature" on which she based her opinion.

#### Mitigation

#### A. Keydrick's Childhood

Gloria Woods gave birth to Keydrick Jordan. That biological act was the only way she earned the right to be called "mother." Keydrick's mother never learned how to raise children. As a result of her own mother's alcoholism and Gloria's responsibility for the caring of her younger siblings, Gloria dropped out of school at the age of fourteen. (T2221-22) When truancy proceedings began against Gloria, she responded by becoming pregnant with her first child, Nevada Jordan, Jr. (T2222) Shortly after the birth of her first son, she became pregnant with Keydrick. Feeling totally inadequate for the job of parent, Gloria at first attempted to terminate the pregnancy that eventually resulted in Keydrick's birth. (T2222-23)

Keydrick Jordan's childhood was a real horror show. 16

Keydrick grew up with his sister Ta-tanisha Davis (who was two years younger), his brother Nevada Jordan (one year older), and

<sup>14</sup> Keydrick never had an opportunity to participate in scouting or little league. He never had a birthday party in his life. (T1958-59)

Nevada Jordan, Sr., Keydrick's father, had only brief contact with the boys and played no role in either one's life. (T2222)

Even the prosecutor finally admitted that the physical abuse of Keydrick Jordan was "excessive." (R676)

his youngest sister, Nakosha Nugent. (T1888-90) Keydrick and his siblings were raised with four aunts and uncles. All seven children were close in age. People referred to them as the seven musketeers. (T1889-91,1896,1899)

Even as an infant, Keydrick was neglected by his caretakers. Hospital records reveal that when he was four months old, Keydrick was hospitalized when he became ill, malnourished, and dehydrated. (T2224) As a youngster, Keydrick was hit by cars on two separate occasions. (T2225) When Keydrick was two, Gloria took him and the other kids along when she went and attacked her estranged husband with a razor. Doctors used 140 stitches to repair Gloria's damage. (T2224)

Gloria Woods disciplined Keydrick and the other musketeers harshly on a daily basis. 18 (T1907) Gloria learned from her own mother, Minnie Pearl Dickins, 19 not to whip anything that was purchased with her hard-earned money. Hence, the children were forced to strip before beatings. (T1908,2229-30) Gloria beat the children with electrical cords, belts, switches, coat

Joining Ta-tanisha Davis, Nevada Jordan and Keydrick Jordan in the group were Aunts Tonja Willis and Detra Mike, and Uncles Terrance and Roderick Gaines. (T1896) At the time of the trial, Terrance Gaines was in prison for raping a child. (T1891, 2192-93) An older uncle, Theophilus Woods, was in a New York prison for homicide. (T1891)

The children were frequently left alone. (T1899-1900)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Minnie Pearl **Dickins** sometimes appears in the transcript as Minnie Pearl **Jenkins**, but this is a clerical/phonetic error. Her actual name is Minnie Pearl **Dickins**, and counsel will use that name in this brief.

hangers, shoes, and paddles.<sup>20</sup> (T1906-7) If a child attempted to flee, Gloria would stand on their back to facilitate the beating.<sup>21</sup> (T1909-10,1971,2230) Gloria seemed to derive perverse pleasure in carrying out the whippings. (T2233) After the beatings, Gloria frequently applied alcohol or forced the children to bathe. This added pain to the open cuts. (T1908-9,2229-30) Gloria once beat Keydrick with a broom and then attempted to strangle him with it. (T1907)

Nevada, Jr., described how Keydrick, who had a strong need for attention, would seek it from his mother without success.

(T2237) Most of the family members felt that Keydrick was the "target child" of Gloria. (T2237) He received more abuse and anger than the other children. (T2237)

The most "stable" father-figure in Keydrick's life was Gloria's illiterate, Jamaican husband, Fitzroy Nugent. 22 (T1854, 2200) Nugent used his voodoo practices to win money gambling to support the family. (T1830-37) Nugent slaughtered chickens, bathing in and sometimes drinking the blood. (T1846) Nugent also bathed Keydrick and the other children in chicken

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Gloria denied using electrical cords while administering the beatings, but admitted to most of the other instruments of torture. (T2225-26)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> Gloria once swore that she would continue beating Roderick until he cried or Gloria would "die trying." It was an extended battle of wills, that resulted in a brutal flogging. (T1970-71,2230)

Nugent was a part of Keydrick's life for eleven years. (T1877-78)

blood to "keep the evil spirits away."<sup>23</sup> (T1903-4,2201) He tried to teach voodoo to Keydrick. (T2242)

Gloria had once abandoned Nugent and the children. Unable to care for the children, Nugent dumped the brood off at Grandma Dickins' house. (T2199,2226-27) One therapist called Gloria's abandonment, "a significant detriment to Keydrick's development." (T2200)

Various adults acted as the children's temporary caretakers.

Assorted older cousins lived with the children for a time.

(T1892) Gloria's mother (Keydrick's grandmother), Minnie Pearl

Dickins, also took care of the children. (T1892) In addition to

living with Dickins for a time, 24 all seven of the children were

shuttled back and forth between Gloria and Minnie Pearl. (T1892-93, 2198-99)

Grandma Dickins was a strict disciplinarian.<sup>25</sup> When **any** of the children misbehaved (even slightly), she ordered the children to line up, disrobe, and lie prone on the floor. Starting with the youngest, Grandma Dickins whipped the naked children with

For the voodoo to be effective, the children had to go to bed soaked in chicken blood. They could rinse it off only the next morning. (T1904)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>24</sup> Keydrick's mother was attempting to extricate her and the children from reliance on Fitzroy Nugent. Gloria had discovered that Nugent was sexually molesting Ta-tanisha Davis from age six to nine. (T1893,1902) Nugent also beat the children with belts and extension cords, breaking the skin. (T1893-96,2201) Although the beatings left marks, the children wore clothing to hide the marks from school officials. (T1894)

Gloria learned her brutal methods of discipline from her own mother who used similar techniques. (T2225)

electrical cords, brooms, brushes, or shoes. If one child was "bad", all received severe beatings. Each child usually received at least fifty lashes. (T1896-99,1967-69,2000) Grandma Dickins was an alcoholic who frequently left the children alone to go to bars. She would return home drunk, only to whip the children later. (T1900-2000,2194-95) The beatings were administered sometimes without apparent reason. (T1999-2000, 2195,2233)

Sharon Moses, an adolescent cousin, sometimes babysat for the seven musketeers. Cousin Sharon would make the children have sex with each other. She would watch and laugh, while she directed the action. If the children resisted, she beat them. If any child attempted to help another, Sharon only made it worse for the victim. (T2241-42) Sharon also sexually abused Keydrick, one-on-one. (T2241)

Leroy Woods, Keydrick's uncle, was another occasional babysitter for the seven musketeers. While watching the kids, Woods took the opportunity to sexually molest his younger sister, Detra.<sup>27</sup> (T1982-83)

When Uncle Terrance Gaines watched the children, he also beat them. (T2240) If Terrance was in charge, the children sometimes chose to sleep in the car or a dumpster rather than go back in to face him. (T2240)

Dickins sometimes left the children alone all weekend. (T1964) The children fed themselves as best they could. (T1967)

The molestation started when Detra was five and continued until she was twelve. (T1982)

## B. Keydrick Witnesses a Murder

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