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

assault and burglary juvenile adjudications was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.<sup>34</sup>

The trial court found four aggravating factors: 1.) under a sentence of imprisonment or on community control; 2.) prior capital felony or violent felony including: a.) burglary of a dwelling and lewd assault [alleged error], b.) robbery, c.) Thelma Reed murder; 3.) during an attempted robbery; and 4.) pecuniary gain (R.1942-43). The trial court weighed aggravators 3 and 4 together as one (R.1943).

It is the State's position that Jordan's arguments as to the juvenile adjudications are waived. Unlike Merck, Jordan never objected on the grounds he now raises for the first time in this appeal. Id. at S539. His objection at the time the evidence was introduced through Officer Casslen was to introduction of the petition, and in fact, he stipulated that the State proved the convictions of lewd assault on a child and burglary of a dwelling (T.1673-1683). He neither challenged the lewd assault as a crime of violence, or that it and the burlary were juvenile adjudications as opposed to convictions (T.1680-83). Id. His "Motion for

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>34</sup>See Owen v. State, 596 So. 2d 985 (Fla. 1992); Tafero v. State, 561 So. 2d 557 (Fla. 1990) (The law is well-settled that Johnson error is properly the subject of harmles error anlaysis, and that such an error can be harmless).

Reconsideration of Sentence/Objection to Sentencing Order" also failed to raise either of the arguments now raised.

Any error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. DiGuilio. Again, unlike Merck, the testimony of Officer Casslen was not comparable to the "dramatic testimony" regarding a shooting which this Court could not be certain did not "taint the recommedation of the jury." Id. The prosecutor simply stated the crimes during closing argument and moved on (T.2699). In short, the juvenile adjudications were not made a feature of Jordan's penalty phase.

The prior violent felony aggravator, even in the absence of the complained of adjudications, was still proven beyond a reasonable doubt by the two remaining adult convictions, rendering any Merck error harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because it was proven irregardless and the jury would have recommended death with or without the juvenile adjudications. See DiGuilio, supra; Peterka v. State, 640 So. 2d 59 (Fla. 1994); Preston v. State, 531 So. 2d 154 (Fla. 1988). First, was the robbery conviction, where he threatened to kill the victim, Ronnie Goodman, ultimately commanding his girlfriend to "get the gun and shoot him (T.1684-90)." Second, there was the murder/rape of Thelma Reed, which he tried to cover up by arson (T.1705-10). The sentencing court's inclusion of the juvenile adjudications is in essence surplusage

because the aggravator exists beyond a reasonable doubt. There is no reason to set aside Henyard's death sentence under those circumstances.<sup>35</sup>

# (2) Extreme Mental or Emotional Disturbance.

"Technically, a trial judge does not reject evidence which is considered in mitigation. Instead, the trial judge finds that its weight is insufficient to overcome the aggravating factors." Echols v. State, 484 So. 2d 568, 576 (Fla. 1986), cert. denied, . The decision as to whether a mitigating circumstance has been established is within the trial court's discretion, and the court's decision will not be reversed merely because an appellant reaches a different consclusion. See Hall v. State, 614 So. 2d 473 (Fla. 1993); Preston v. State, 607 So. 2d 404, 412 (Fla. 1992); Lucas v. State, 568 So. 2d 18 (Fla. 1990), appeal after remand, 613 So. 2d 408, 410 (Fla. 1992); Sireci v. State, 587 So. 2d 450 (1991), cert. denied, 112 S.Ct.1500 (1992). "Moreover, whether a mitigator has been established is a question of fact, and a court's findings are presumed correct and will be upheld if supported. State, 571 So. 2d 415 (Fla. 1990)." Lucas, after remand, at 410.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>35</sup>There is no Federal constitutional implication to the trial court's consideration of the juvenile adjudications as one component of the prior violent felony aggravator. See, e.g. Lindsey v. Smith, 820 F.2d 1137, 1154 (11th Cir. 1987); Brooks v. Francis, 716 F.2d 780, 791 (11th Cir. 1983).

"...[Q]ualified experts certainly should be permitted to testify on the question [as to a defendant's lying], but the finder of fact is not necessarily required to accept the testimony." Wuornos, supra, at 1010. Further, "even uncontroverted opinion [emphasis this Court's] testimony can be rejected, and especially where it is hard to square with the other evidence at hand." Id., citing Walls v. State, 641 So. 2d 381, 390-91, n.8 (Fla. 1994). A mitigating factor "...can be deemed 'controverted' if there is any contrary or inconsistent evidence in the guilt or penalty phases, or if evidence of the factor is untrustworthy, improbable, or unbelievable. Walls." Id., at 1010, n.6.

Given what Jordan concedes as its "exhaustive anlaysis of the evidence (p.84)," the trial court correctly exercised its discretion in not finding that he was under the influence of extreme mental or emotional disturbance, in light of the aforementioned authorities, and its extensive findings regarding the same (1943-44). What Jordan "really complains about here is the weight the trial court accorded the evidence [he] presented in mitigation." Echols, supra, at 576; citing Porter v. State, 429 So. 2d 293, 296 (Fla.), cert. denied 464 U.S. 865 (1983).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>36</sup>See Lemon v. State, 456 So. 2d 885, 888 (Fla. 1984).

"However, 'mere disagreement with the force to be given [mitigating evidence] is an insufficient basis for challenging a sentence.'"

Id., citing Quince v. State, 414 So. 2d 185, 187 (Fla. 1982). Even if this Court were to find that the trial court erred, it would be harmless beyond a doubt because what Jordan complains was not considered as a statutory mitigator, was in fact considered as a non-statutory mitigator. See Wuornos, at 1011; Lemon, at 888.

# (3) Abusive Childhood.

The same authorities cited in the State's argument under (2) supra are equally applicable here. See Echols at 576; Hall; Preston at 412; Lucas II at 410; Sireci; Campbell. Jordan's argument, as seen on page 89, is: "Even though the trial court stated that he gave 'substantial weight' to these mitigating circumstances, the court did not accord the evidence its proper [emphasis Jordan's] weight." Obviously, Jordan is disagreeing with the force to be given mitigating evidence, which is an insufficient basis for challenging a sentence. Echols, at 576; Quince, at 187. The trial court correctly exercised its discretion in finding as it did regarding Jordan's childhood The only thing improper as to this claim, is (R.1946-1948). Jordan's insufficient basis for challenging his sentence. Without conceding as much, any error is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt.

DiGuilio; Wuornos.

# (4) <u>Jordan's Courtroom Demeanor</u>.

Again, Jordan is merely disagreeing with the weight the trial court afforded mitigating evidence. See Echols at 576; Hall; Preston at 412; Lucas II at 410; Sireci; Campbell. Error, if any, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. DiGuilio; Wuornos.

# B. <u>Alleged Grossman Error</u>. 37

Jordan's rendition of the circumstances surrounding the 2 sentencing orders is inaccurate, and involved nothing more than an admitted *clerical error* made by the trial judge when he was typing up the original order. A correct rendition of the facts follows.

At the conclusion of Jordan's sentencing on July 22, 1994, the prosecutor pointed out to the trial judge regarding his Order assessing the aggravating factor concerning Thelma Reed's murder "you indicated that he [Jordan] had pled to murder, arson and burglary. In fact he only pled to the murder (R.749)." State Attorney Lamar corrected the prosecutor, stating that it was sexual battery and arson, not burgary and arson (R.749). The trial judge responded that the inclusion of the nol prossed sexual battery and arson counts "would not make a difference in my weighing process,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>37</sup>Grossman v. State, 525 So. 2d 833 (Fla. 1988).

but I checked the court file and thought that I saw that as part of the order when I reviewed the file (R.749)." Jordan's counsel indicated that "[i]f the court file says that, it's wrong (R.749)." The trial judge admitted he may have "made an error in checking the records (R.750)." It was clearly understood by all parties concerned that if the trial court made a mistake then everyone would be called back for a hearing "to correct [the] sentencing order (R.750)."

On July 27, 1994, true to his word, the trial judge conducted another hearing in which it reiterated that it had made a "clerical error," and "[the] reference to those offenses played no part in my weighing process or consideration (R.753-54)." Initially, there was no response from the defense, but later Jordan's counsel expressed a concern that "the Court went extra record..." and requested leave to file a pleading expressing his concerns (R.755-56). The trial court granted the defense's request stating unequivocally: "I have not consulted anything outside the record (R.755-56)." Jordan's counsel continued allegations of extra record considerations to which the trial judge reiterated:

what I weighed was the fact that the other murder conviction, the others did not play a part. I was merely attempting to list the names of the offenses and made a clerical error in listing that in my draft. (R.757)

At the hearing on Jordan's "Motion For Reconsideration of Sentence," conducted on August 18, 1994, the trial judge again stated for the record that what was involved was a *clerical error* (R.785-86).

These facts clearly demonstrate that there was no violation of the procedural rule created in *Grossman* that all written orders imposing death be prepared prior to the oral pronouncement of sentence for filing concurrent with said pronouncement. *Id.*, at 841. Rather, the trial court committed a clerical error which it corrected. "[T]here is not even a hint that the judge considered or relied on" the complained of nol prossed counts, and in fact the record is quite clear that he did not. *See Lucas II*, at 411. Error, if any, clearly was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. *Diguilio; Grossman, supra*, at 845-46.

#### C. Restriction of Irrelevant Evidence.

In the penalty phase of a capital murder trial, "evidence may be presented as to any matter that the court deems **relevant** to the nature of the crime and the character of the defendant." §921.141(1) Fla. Stat. (1991). To be admissible, evidence must be relevant, and its admission is within the trial court's wide discretion. Chandler v. State, supra, at 703; See also, Muehleman

v. State, 503 So. 2d 310, 315 (Fla.), cert. denied, 108 S.Ct. 39 (1987). What Jordan complains of as the trial court's restriction of the presentation of mitigation evidence, was simply a matter of the trial court correctly exercising its discretion in disallowing evidence which was not relevant to the nature of the murder of Ann Mintner or Jordan's character.

First, Jordan never voice a contemporaneous objection to not being allowed to introduce "voodoo" testimony, and this claim is waived (See p. 93). Second, such testimony was placed before the jury anyway when Fitzroy Nugent testified that he sacrificed "a goat for a wedding reception" and sacrificed chickens to "bathe in the blood," as well as "drink" it, prior to the prosecutor's objection on relevancy grounds, arguing that "information ... more directed to the character [of] caretakers, rather than the defendant is not relevant (T.1845-47)." See Hill v. State, 515 So. 2d 176 (Fla. 1987), cert. denied, 485 U.S. 993 (1988). court correctly excluded the evidence because Jordan failed to establish that he "was present or knew about" Nugent's voodoo practices, and "the prejudicial nature of the presentation of this direct testimony in front of the jury outweighs its relevance unless ... [he] was present or knew of these practices (T.1849-51)." The trial court refused to allow "the jury to speculate on what those influences might be," absent proof that Jordan was in fact influenced by them (T.1852).

Jordan's representation on page 94, as to the "blown-up" mug shot of Joe Evans, is totally inaccurate (T.1917-20). There were 2 photographs, Defense Exhibits D and F, the alleged relevance of which was puportedly to identify what Evans looked like (T.1917-20). Ta-Tanisha Davis identified Evans from Exhibit D, so there was no error (T.1920). Further, this claim is procedurally barred because there was no contemporaneous objection. As to the photograph of an unidentified child, which Jordan's counsel attempted to admit during Detra Michelle's direct, he admitted that the photo represented "no one in [Jordan's] family" (T.1972). Besides being irrelevant, there was no contemporaneous objection from Jordan, this claim is procedurally barred, and harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. DiGuilio.

Jordan's representation on page 95 as to Connie Woods Kelley testimony regarding her father, Willie Woods, Jordan's maternal grandfather, is also inaccurate. After hearing extensive argument at sidebar (T.1987-95), the trial court ruled, regarding her abuse at the hands of her father prior to Jordan's birth, as follows:

THE COURT: ...[B] ecause these events occurred prior to the birth of Keydrick Jordan I'm going to sustain the State's objection to the testimony of

this witness, although I will allow her having supplied that information to the expert, I will allow the expert to consider that if that's something a reasonable expert would take into account. (T.1992)

In fact, Jordan's "family" expert, Kevin Sullivan, testified to Connie's abuse at the hands of Wille Woods (T.2191-92). Therefore, the information that Jordan sought to elicit from her, that Willie Woods physically and sexually abused his children, was placed before the jury. Error, if any, was harmless because Connie's testimony, if elicited, would have been merely cumulative. DiGuilio.

The alleged improper limitation of Jordan's cross-examination of Ronnie Goodman concerned an irrelevant and highly prejudicial question regarding whether he had been "arrested for aggravated battery on a pregnant woman," after defense counsel had already elicited Goodman was on probation (T.1697-98). The trial court correctly sustained the State's relevancy objection and struck defense counsel's gratuitous comment before the jury: "Mr. Goodman thinks it's relevant (T.1698)." No contemporaneous objection was raised, 38 the claim is procedurally barred, and implicit in the failure to object is proof that any error was harmless.

 $<sup>^{38}</sup>$ Jordan's objection 4 months after it occurred is too late (R.422).

Again, on page 96, Jordan fails to provide an accurate representation of Ta-Tanisha's redirect, in which she was asked to speculate on whether her mother, Gloria, loved Jordan (T.1957). The State's objection to "speculation as to what someone's answer would be," was correctly sustained by the trial court (T.1957-58). Earlier she testified that she witnessed her mother tell Jordan "[r]ecently since he been locked up," that she loved him (T.1957). There was no contemporaneous objection, the claim is waived, and harmless beyond a reasonable doubt given the aforementioned testimony by Ta-Tanisha, and the cumulative nature of this testimony in light of Jordan's other siblings testimony regarding this same matter. DiGuilio.

Jordan's claims on pages 96-97 regarding alleged restriction of some evidence relating to Keydrick's family background, and exclusion of Sally Wenstrand's testimony about HRS shortcomings, also concerned correct exercise of judicial discretion on relevancy grounds (T.2046-47, 2151-57). The former testimony concerned Jackson Williams, which the trial court found "too remote ... to be relevant because...," it did not have "...any information that, prior to the murder, Jordan knew anything about [him] (T.2157-59)." As regards Ms. Wenstrand's testimony, a review of the record demonstrates that prior to the State's objection, she testified at

length that Jordan did not get the psychiatric treatment he needed, and which she recommended (T.2041-46). But, Jordan's counsel went too far when he sought to elicit a condemnation of HRS, and the trial court properly sustained the objection (T.2046-48). Error, if any, was harmless in light of Ms. Wenstrand's testimony regarding lack of adequate treatment for Jordan when it was called for. DiGuilio.

On page 97, Jordan argues the trial court erred in failing to consider his polygraph examination. It is well established law that poylgraph exams are inherently unreliable, and consequently may not be used in judicial proceedings unless both sides agree to their use. See Davis v. State, 520 So. 2d 572, 573-574 (Fla. 1988). The State objected, and the trial court correctly exercised its wide discretion in not considering Jordan's polygraph. Error, if any, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, given Jordan's confession that he repeatedly shot a fleeing 76-year-old woman. DiGuilio.

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